TGEGKXGF.'813: 14235''37-65-59.''Vj qo cu'F0J cm'Engtm''Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DALE GLENN MIDDLETON,)
)
Appellant,)
)
VS.)
)
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	
Appenee.	

CASE NO. SC12-2469

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On appeal from the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Okeechobee County, Florida [Criminal Division]

> CAREY HAUGHWOUT Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida 421 Third Street/6th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 355-7600

Jeffrey L. Anderson Assistant Public Defender Appellate Division Florida Bar No. 374407 Appeals@pd15.state.fl.us

Attorney for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant and Appellee the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, In and for Okeechobee County, Florida. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before the Court, although Appellee may also be referred to as the state.

The record appeal consists of 7 volumes. Volumes I through VII contain the Record portion of the record on appeal and are numbered consecutively 1-1304. This portion of the record will be referred to by the symbol "R" followed by the page number.

Volumes VIII-XXVI contains the transcripts of hearings and the trial. Volumes VIII-XXVI are numbered consecutively 1-2872. The transcript portion of the record will be referred to by the symbol "T" followed by the page number.

There is one volume of supplemental record on appeal. The supplemental record will be referred to by "SR" followed by the volume and page number.

There is one volume of evidence documents. It will be referred to by the symbol "E" followed by the page number.

Х

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant, Dale Glenn Middleton, was charged with first degree murder; burglary ; grand theft; and dealing in stolen property R38-39.The case was before the Honorable Robert Belanger. A jury trial commenced on August of 2012.

After close of the State's case in chief Appellant moved for judgments of acquittal T2293, 2295. The motions were denied T2295, 2297. Appellant was found guilty of murder, burglary, grand theft, and dealing in stolen property R1056-1058, 1181-1182. The grand theft conviction was vacated. The jury recommended death by a 12-0 vote.

Appellant was sentenced to death for the murder conviction IV R561, 576-96, and to life in prison for the burglary and to fifteen years in prison for dealing in stolen property R1188-1223, 1183-1185. Appellant filed his notice of appeal R1227, 1232. This appeal follows. Motion To Suppress Hearing

Appellant moved to suppress his statements to police R508-511. A hearing was held on the motion.

Steve Britnell testified that Appellant consumed Xanax and crystal meth twice on the day of the incident T352, 359. Appellant also took cocaine T364. Britnell described Appellant as real shaky, real nervous, real upset T340. That afternoon when Appellant was on the phone he was crying T341.

1

Some officers who observed Appellant that night testified that Appellant did not appear to be under the influence of drugs or alcohol T381, 391.

Assistant public defender Stanley Glenn testified that the first appearance was held at 9:30 AM on July 30, 2009 T401. The public defender's office was appointed to Appellant's case at the first appearance T407. The trial court took judicial notice that Appellant's invocation of constitutional rights form was filed on July 30 at 11:50 AM T416.

Detective Marty Faulkner testified that Appellant signed a Miranda rights card on July 28, 2009 at 11:56 PM T425 -- 426. Appellant was nervous and stressed, but did not appear impaired T427. A total of five interviews were held with Appellant. The fourth interview stopped at 12:25 PM on July 29 T448. The next day Faulkner decided to check on Appellant T455. Faulkner was concerned about Appellant T469. Faulkner did not tell anyone at the jail that he was concerned about Appellant T474. As Faulkner walked up to Appellant's cell, Appellant told Faulkner he wanted to talk T457-458. According to the jail records Faulkner left with Appellant at 9:21 AM and Appellant was returned to his cell at 10:19 AM T466. Faulkner had been informed that Appellant had spoken with an attorney T471. Faulkner attempted to have Appellant waive his right to an attorney 6 times but was not successful T473. The 7th time Appellant did waive his right to an attorney T474.

Dr. Gregory Landrum testified that he assessed Appellant's competency to stand trial T491. Appellant had an overall IQ score of 72 T493. Landrum did not perform a test for determining Appellant's understanding of Miranda T501.

Dr. James Barnard, a licensed psychologist, testified that he was asked to do an evaluation of Appellant's understanding of the Miranda rights T519. Barnard reviewed medical records, arrest reports, school board records, substance abuse/ drug rehabilitation records, and interviewed Appellant and arresting officers T522. Testing showed Appellant with a full IQ of 83 and a verbal comprehension of 78 T524. Testing indicated that Appellant was not malingering T531. Appellant's reading ability is at a 4th grade level T535. Appellant reported abuse of alcohol, cannabis, cocaine, tranquilizers, opiates including heroin, oxycodone, roxycodone, and crystal methamphetamine T539. Appellant had ADHD (attention deficit hyperactivity disorder) T524. Appellant reported that the drugs made him less able to control his impulses T543. Barnard testified that people with impulse disorders have a higher likelihood of substance abuse T543. The evidence of Appellant being in jail for 24 to 36 hours was consistent with withdrawal where Appellant had used oxycodone, Roxicodone, Xanax, and crystal meth within the 24 hours period prior to the offense T545. Withdrawal symptoms include confusion T545. Appellant took the Grisso test for comprehension of Miranda rights T547. Appellant's total score was 13 of 30 which is more than 2 standard deviations below the mean T554.

The mean is 26.3 of 30 T555. The tests assess the ability to intelligently apply knowledge regarding Miranda rights T555. There is no direct correlation between being given rights and actually understanding them T559. Appellant indicated he understood his Miranda rights but never gave any definition of what his understanding was T650. Appellant's responses indicate more of an acquiescence to assist police and be controlled by police rather than asserting his rights T655.

Chris Jenkins testified that on July 28, 2000 he gave Appellant roxies T684. Appellant snorted two of them and kept another T684. Appellant called Jenkins because he was "dope sick" meaning he was going through withdrawal from drugs T686, 689.

Dr. Michael Riordan, a licensed psychologist, performed neuropsychological evaluations of Appellant T695, 702. Appellant had an IQ of 75 T707. Riordan opined that Appellant was incompetent to waive Miranda at the time of the interrogation because a person of borderline intellectual functioning is less likely to understand the Miranda compared to a person with average intelligence and Appellant had a cognitive disorder which impairs the ability to function and Appellant used drugs which could negatively impact cognitive abilities T707-708. Tests showed that Appellant was not malingering on the tests Riordan gave T712. One can malinger on one set of tests while not malingering on other tests T714. Riordan did not utilize the Grisso test but did have extended findings with regard to Miranda comprehension T754 - 755. Riordan opined that Appellant may or may not have been competent to waive Miranda at the beginning of the process but that he was not competent later on T790.

Deborah Leporowski, a licensed psychologist, testified that when she examined Appellant she was not looking at a neuropsychological perspective T802. Leporowski noted the discrepancies in IQ testing of Appellant of 72, 83, and 75 T802. The most reasonable explanation for the discrepancy was either that Appellant was not interested, not paying attention, or deliberately underperforming T803. Leporowski noted that while Appellant was in the impaired range and this could be accounted for by his lack of education T805. Leporowski testified that nothing from a neuropsychological test gave her concern that Appellant had difficulty comprehending Miranda T808. Leporowski did not use the Grisso test because it used words that Appellant was not given by police T814. Leporowski did not see anything in the video of Appellant's statement showing that he did not understand the warnings T817. Leporowski disagrees with Dr. Barnard as to when withdrawal peaks from drugs occur T820.

The trial court denied the motion to suppress Appellant's statements R875-898. The Trial

The body of Rebecca Christensen was found in her home T1598.

Christensen had received numerous stab and incise wounds. A TV was missing from her residence. Appellant lived across the street from Christensen T1672. Appellant was in possession of Christensen's TV T1700. After initially denying involvement in Christensen's death, Appellant felt he could no longer live with

what he had done and confessed to the killing:

And when we left here we went and started smoking meth. And I ain't never done it before. At a couple Roxies, some Oxy 80's, smoking a lot of meth, all hyped up and shit. I didn't even know who the hell I was. Went to the house so we could change real quick and Wade -- and then the other guy -- ...

... They hauled ass to Wal-Mart real quick and I was all hyped up, fucked up out of my gourd. And I walked next door to talk to her, I knocked on her door, she opened it and I asked her did she have a little bit of money I could borrow. And she said 'No.' And I told her 'Please, I need some money.' And then I guess she got scared and we started an altercation and it just went crazy. The next thing I know, here I am.

T2257-2258. Appellant acknowledged he took a TV from the residence and again

recounted what occurred:

"Q: Did -- did you take anything else out of the home?

"A: No, sir.

"Q: Did she have any money?

"A: No, sir.

"Q: Did you check?

"A: No, sir.

"Q: You never checked?

"A: There was so much going on. It happened so fast.

"Q: Did you look in her purse?

"A: I don't think so. I don't even think I seen the purse. I know it happened so fast and it's still kind of foggy.

"Q: Did she say anything to you?

"A: No, sir, just 'Come in.' And I asked her to borrow some money and she said 'Dale, I ain't got no money, I paid the bills.' I told her 'Please.' And I told her why and then we got upset and things got out of hand and I did what I did and here I am. . . .

T2260-2261. When asked if he went to Christensen's residence intending to kill her

Appellant acknowledged that he had been thinking about committing robberies but

that he did not know he was going to kill her when he went over to her residence: "Q: Let me ask you something, Dale. With your cooperation, as you are, and not (inaudible) impressed that you're -- in your state of mind it's what you want to do. I understand you're feeling like you -- you've done evil and it's not you and you're trying to correct this. Did you know you were going to kill her when you went over there?

"A: No, sir. No, sir.

"Q: The reason why I asked that, you mentioned that you talked about it several days.

"A: No, we talked -- me and Wade talked about robbing a few places, never harming no one, never nothing like that. We're not that kind of people.

"Q: Is it -- what prompted you to go ahead and take her life? Is it when she told you she had no money or you didn't believe her? How -- how did that all start?

"A: I was so fucked up and tore up and hyped up like I've never been in my life. And after she -- she said she ain't got no money and everything and I kept begging her and she tried to push me out the

door and shit, that's when shit went crazy, it just fucking went crazy.

"Q: What was she doing in her home when you walked in? Did you -- you knocked, you said?

"A: Yes, sir.

"Q: And she said 'Come in'?

"A: Yes, sir.

"Q: What was she actually doing when you walked in?

"A: I'm not sure.

"Q: Okay. So when y'all had your argument over I guess the money --

"A: Yes, sir.

"Q: -- she started, you said, pushing you away to get out, get out of her home?

"A: Yes, sir.

"Q: And then what happened?

"A: I did what I did. I was so hyped up and fucked up and scared and 'Ahhhhh.'

"Q: What type of knife was it?

"A: Just a regular knife.

T2261-2263. Appellant described the knife as a little kitchen knife – the type used to peel potatoes T2282. Appellant had it in his back pocket because he used it to clean his nails T2258. Appellant would later put the knife in a bag with his clothes and throw them in a dumpster T2258.

Witnesses testified about Appellant trying to sell Christensen's TV T1629, 1634,1686-1687. Appellant indicated a guy gave him the TV because he owed Appellant money T1646. Appellant sold the TV to Roland Ammons for \$200 T1701-1702. When Ammons talked to Appellant about the TV, Appellant sounded like he was crying and his voice was really breaking T1710. Ammons' wife even asked him if Appellant was crying T1710.

Appellant had been given Roxicodone by Chris Jenkins earlier that day T1654. Appellant took two of them by crushing them and saved one for later T1654.

Christopher Lein testified that Appellant came over to his residence that afternoon to fix Lein's toilet T1628. Later, Appellant wanted to know if anyone wanted to by a TV T1629.

Steve Britnell testified he picked up Appellant at 8 or 9:00 AM that day T1715. They rode around looking for drugs T1715. They did Xanax together T1739. Around 1:00 PM they found some methamphetamine T1715. They went to Appellant's trailer and did the drugs T1716. Appellant was "pretty ripped" since 3:00 PM that afternoon T1748 – 1749. At around 4:30 PM Britnell went to Wal-Mart with Wade Fowler T1717, 1720. Appellant didn't go and said he had some business to take care of T1720. When Britnell returned he saw a TV T1724. Appellant asked Britnell to drive him around to sell the TV T1725. Appellant

eventually found a buyer T1727 -- 28. Britnell and Appellant did drugs on the way back to Appellant's residence T1729. Britnell had car problems and Appellant walked off T1729 – 31. When Appellant later called for a ride he was crying and really upset T1731. When Britnell was driving in the trailer park he could see a lot of police cars T1731. Appellant directed Britnell in another direction T1732. Britnell heard Appellant talking on the phone to his girlfriend crying and expressing he was sorry T1750.

Deputy William Maerki testified that Appellant was first interviewed at 11:56 that night T1780. Maerki testified that Appellant's mannerisms and bloodshot watery eyes led him to believe that Appellant was under the influence of something T1783. There was no slurred speech which surprised Maerki T1784. Maerki was not surprised that subjects of interviews do not divulge information regarding their criminal activity T1796.

Garrett Wade Fowler testified that Appellant had previously mentioned performing a "link" -- meaning a robbery T1804. Fowler did not know who Appellant intended to rob T1843. Fowler also testified that two weeks earlier Appellant indicated that Roberta Christensen was a target T1805. Appellant believed her husband was out of town T1805. Appellant had seen her put away large amounts of money T1805. Fowler had smoked meth with Appellant on the day of the killing T1807. Fowler testified it was obvious that Appellant was smoking meth that day and was obviously high T1836-1837. Fowler noticed what looked like blood on one of Appellant's boots T1818.

Appellant's boots were found in Steve Britnell's car T2018. Rebecca Christensen's DNA was found on one of Appellant's boots T2075 -- 76.

There was testimony as to forensic evidence found in Roberta Christensen's residence. There was blood on the kitchen floor T1974. A trail of blood went around the dining room table and down the hallway toward the master bedroom T1975. The blood evidence showed a struggle T1984. There were items that appear to be pulled down around Christensen during the struggle T1988. Blood on the bottom of Christensen's foot indicated that she had stepped in blood T2112. Christensen's body had defensive wounds T1985. There was evidence consistent with drag marks in the hallway T1983. Christensen's body was found lying in a bedroom T1981. She had a gaping wound to her throat T1982. There was an impression found a piece of paper under her arm T1988. The impression was consistent with the size and shape of Appellant's boot T2135 - 2137. The blood evidence was consistent with Christensen receiving a neck injury not while laying down T2116. The blood was consistent with the struggle all the way from the kitchen to the bedroom T2119.

The medical examiner conducted an autopsy on Christensen on July 29, 2009 T2166. There were numerous wounds on the body. The medical examiner

could not determine the order of wounds that Christensen received T2165. Christensen received numerous defense wounds T2177, 2178, 2182, 2183. There were abrasions and contusions to her face T2169. There were stab wounds to her chest and neck T2175. There was a wound consistent with someone stomping her face T2184. There were numerous wounds to the neck and head area T2180 -2183. There was a large gaping wound to the neck which was 15 cm in length and 3 cm in width T2184. The depth of the wound went to the vertebral coloum T2186. It was consistent with several passes of a sharp instrument T186. The examiner couldn't tell how many passes T2186. There were a number of other stab wounds to the neck T2185. The wounds to her neck would come toward the final injuries T2192. The gaping wound was consistent with movement T2192. There was nothing indicating that Christensen was unconscious before the gaping wound occurred T2195.

The Penalty Phase

Crime scene technician Jackie Moore testified that there was a vanity inside the bedroom of Roberta Christensen T2486. There was blood spatter on the exterior of the door of the vanity but inside there was none T2427. There was a purse inside the vanity T2427. There was blood on the purse and on the inside of the purse T2429. Moore opined that the door was closed during the altercation because there was no blood spatter inside the vanity but that the purse had been in the room because there was blood on it T2428 - 2429. Moore had no idea whether anything was in the purse at the time of the altercation T2429.

Eric Christensen testified the day before the killing Roberta Christensen said that Dale had been over and bummed a cigarette and that she had some money out T2438. She said she thought Dale had seen the money and that she was going to deposit it T2438.

Dr. James Barnard testified that he reviewed arrest affidavits, investigation reports, the defendant's statements, school records, drug treatment program records, Raulerson Hospital records, police reports, and interviewed people and family familiar with the defendant and his psychological evaluation T2451 - 2453. There was some discrepancies in report of drug use T2455. It is common for someone to under report substance abuse T2456. There were reports of maternal alcohol abuse T2457. Dr. Barnard administered tests which showed that Appellant had learning disability T2457 - 2458. Appellant did not have a psycoeducational evaluation during his school years T2458. Appellant was well below average in achievement tests in Georgia when growing up T2459. Appellant was one or two on a scale of 10 T2459. Appellant was in school until the 4th or 5th grade T2460. Appellant tested at a 4th grade level and had a sentence comprehension in the 5th grade level T2460. Reports indicated there was traumatic family background and lack of parental guidance T2462. Appellant had difficulty focusing attention and in controlling behavior T2462. Appellant had ADHD (attention deficit hyperactivity disorder) T2462. The hallmark symptom of ADHD is difficulty with impulse control and difficulty in conforming behavior to norms T2463. Appellant at a high rate of motor activity (restlessness, fidgety) which is another symptom of ADHD T2463. ADHD is characterized by problems with rules governing behavior T2463. There is no indication that Appellant's family had any training to deal with this factor T2465. When Appellant was growing up the Department of Youth Services caseworkers came to Appellant's house and administered psychostimulant medication like Ritalin, Adderall, etc. that have been used with ADHD T2466. Once this medication is not used regularly the person reverts back T2466. Barnard testified Appellant had IQ of 83 but his functional reading achievement was significantly lower T2468. His verbal comprehension is at 78 T2474. He has a borderline range of 73 to 85 T2474. 93 out of 100 people score higher T2474. Appellant has splintered or uneven patterns of abilities T2484. Appellant is able to do things with his hands but has problems solving verbal tasks T2484. Appellant has a history of multiple substance abuse which began after injuring his back in an accidental fall T2514. Substance abuse is directly related to antisocial or criminal behavior T2515. Appellant's abuse of marijuana began at ages 10 to 13 and cocaine at the age of 25 T2516. Untreated ADHD is known risk factor for later substance abuse T2519. Appellant had chronic school difficulty and a lack of social support

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