TGEGKXGF."; 1614235"32-65-56. "Vj qo cu'F0J cm'Engtm'Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC12-2469

#### DALE GLENN MIDDLETON

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

#### STATE OF FLORIDA

**APPELLEE** 

.....

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR OKEECHOBEE COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

.....

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BOBDI Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Lisa-Marie Lerner Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 698271 1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

#

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

Cave v. State, 727 So.2d 227, 229 (Fla. 1998) (affirming death sentence with murder in the course of a felony (robbery-kidnapping), CCP, HAC, and avoid arrest aggravators and one statutory and eight nonstatutory mitigators where the defendant was the ring leader of a plan to rob a convenience store, led the victim at gunpoint, and controlled her during the long ride to a remote location where she was killed by accomplices); Jimenez v. State, 703 So. 2d 437 (Fla. 1997) (stabbing death with four aggravators, one statutory and two non-statutory mitigators); Sliney v. State, 699 So.2d 662 (Fla.), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 1129, 118 S.Ct. 1079, 140 L.Ed.2d 137 (1998) (upholding the death penalty where the victim was beaten in the face with a hammer and stabbed with a pair of scissors and where there were two aggravators (commission during a robbery and avoiding arrest), two statutory mitigators (age and lack of criminal history), and a number of nonstatutory mitigators); Hayes v. State, 581 So.2d 121 (Fla.1991) (upholding the death penalty where there were two aggravators (CCP and commission during a robbery), one statutory mitigator (age), and other nonstatutory mitigators); Pope v. State, 679 So.2d 710, 716 (Fla. 1996) (holding death penalty proportional where murder committed for pecuniary gain and prior violent felony, outweighed two statutory mitigating circumstances, commission while under influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance and impaired capacity to appreciate criminality of conduct, and several nonstatutory mitigating circumstances) Johnson v. State, 660 So.2d 637, 648 (Fla.1995) (upholding death sentence for stabbing death of elderly female inside her home during a burglary where court found three aggravators—prior violent felony, committed for financial gain, and HAC—outweighed fifteen nonstatutory mitigators).

In support of proportionality with the aggravators of felony murder and HAC, the State relies on Boyd v State, 910 So.2d 167, 193 (Fla. 2005) (stabbing death with felony murder/sexual battery, HAC, one statutory and five non-statutory mitigators); Cox v. State, 819 So.2d 705 (Fla. 2002) (stabbing death based on CCP, HAC, and "nineteen of the thirty-two nonstatutory mitigating factors were accorded slight or little to some weight"); Mansfield v. State, 758 So.2d 636 (Fla. 2000)(HAC, felony murder, and five non-statutory mitigators); Geralds v. State, 674 So.2d 96 (Fla. 1996) (HAC, felony murder and both statutory and nonstatutory mitigation afforded little weight); Spencer v. State, 691 So.2d 1062 (Fla. 1996) (prior violent felony, HAC, two statutory mental mitigators and several nonstatutory mitigators); Hudson v. State, 538 So.2d 829 (Fla. 1989) (prior violent felony and felony murder (burglary).

Finally, any error in the finding of the aggravators is harmless. The trial court said in its order: "The court gives the four primary aggravating circumstances great weight. Moreover, 'any of the considered aggravating circumstances found in this case, standing alone, would be sufficient to outweigh the mitigation in total

presented regarding the murder of Roberta Christenson].' *Carter v. State*, 980 So. 2d 473, 483 (Fla. 2008); Green v. State, 641 So. 2d 391, 396 (Fla. 1994). Johnson v. State, 660 So.2d 637 (Fla.1995) (death penalty proportionate for stabbing murder where trial court found prior violent felony, commission of a murder for financial gain, and HAC aggravators and determined that each aggravator, alone, outweighed the mitigators, including: defendant was raised in a single-parent household; defendant had an excellent relationship with other family members; defendant showed love and affection to his children; and defendant had demonstrated artistic talent); Pietri v. State, 644 So.2d 1347, 1353–54 (Fla.1994) (concluding that trial court's erroneous finding of CCP aggravator was harmless error because three other aggravators supported the death penalty and there were no mitigating factors). This Court should affirm.

# POINT II THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION FOR HAVING THE DEFENSE BEGIN ITS PRESENTATION IN THE PENALTY PHASE AS ORIGINALLY SCHEDULED. (Restated)

Middleton next argues that the trial court abused its discretion when it ordered him to begin his penalty phase presentation immediately following the conclusion of the State's case as originally scheduled. He claims that the order of the witnesses was important since the lay witnesses would lay the groundwork for

his expert's testimony although he does not articulate in what way that was necessary given that the doctor himself explained what Middleton's childhood and homelife was like, information then verified by the family members. Middleton focuses on the fact that the trial was "ahead of schedule" as the basis for saying the court had to exercise its discretion in the manner the defense requested and had no valid reason for not so doing. The court did not abuse its discretion and this claim should be denied.

The trial court gave both sides a day between the ending of the guilt phase and the beginning of the penalty trial. The defense had two family members of Middleton's who lived in Georgia and who were to testify in the penalty phase trial. Defense counsel did not put them under valid subpoenas nor was transportation arranged for them prior to the trial. Counsel learned late the day before the trial began that they could not afford to come on their own and then waited until court began to ask to continue the defense case. They did not try to have the witnesses get on a bus or have someone drive them down the day before court began. (T 23:2406-21) The trial court gave counsel a number of options to assist the defense in getting these witnesses to court by offering to pay to have them driven down and put in a hotel or to get their testimony through a video connection or even telephone. The trial court explained that the state that it did not want to continue the case. (Id. 2409) It pointed out that the State's presentation would take only an hour or so and the rest of the day would not be used. Rather than having the jury spend only a hour and then have to return the next two days to do the defense and the rebuttal, he wanted to utilize the time available in an efficient manner. It also pointed out that the witnesses were not wildly out of order given that the psychologist would go on today and the lay witnesses would follow tomorrow morning. (Id. 2412, 2415, 2417) Defense counsel eventually chose to have their investigator drive them down. ((Id. 2421)

As is clearly apparent from the record, it was choices made by the defense that resulted in their witnesses not being physically present the day the trial was to begin. They had failed to subpoen them or to have them transported down. When they found out about the financial situation, something which surely should have been considered sometime earlier in the four years the trial was pending, they could have sent someone up to get them so that they would be present the next day, at least in the afternoon. They did none of those things. The court did not abuse its discretion in having the defense do a minor realignment in its witness presentation.

Under Geralds v. State, 674 So.2d 96, 99 (Fla. 1996) Middleton had to show the following four things in order to prevail on his motion for continuance: "(1) prior due diligence to obtain the witness's presence; (2) that substantially favorable testimony would have been forthcoming; (3) that the witness was available and willing to testify; and (4) that the denial of the continuance caused material

prejudice." citing United States v. O'Neill, 767 F.2d 780, 784 (11th Cir.1985). As noted above, Middleton could not show the necessary due diligence. Since the witnesses actually did testify the following morning, the jury heard anything favorable they had to say. Finally, Middleton does not demonstrate how he was materially prejudiced by the minor rearrangement of his witnesses. Whether to grant a continuance is within the discretion of the trial court. Id.; Israel v. State, 837 So.2d 381, 388 (Fla.2002). A trial court's ruling on a motion for mistrial is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. Salazar v. State, 991 So.2d 364, 371 (Fla.2008). "A court's ruling will be sustained absent an abuse of discretion—it will be sustained unless no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court." Kelley v. State, 974 So.2 1047, 1051 (Fla. 2007). Such a motion should be granted "only when it is necessary to ensure that the defendant receives a fair trial." Salazar, 991 So.2d at 372 (quoting Cole v. State, 701 So.2d 845, 853 (Fla.1997)). Here, the jury heard the evidence so the fairness of the trial was not undermined and the court did not abuse its discretion by its ruling. This claim should be denied.

# POINT III THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE REQUEST FOR A MITIGATION EXPERT.

Middleton next argues that the his death sentence is unconstitutional because

the trial court did not grant him a mitigation expert to assist in the preparation of the penalty phase mitigation. He further argues that the court improperly applied Leon Shaffer Golnick Advertising, Inc. v. Cedar, 423 So.2d 1015 (Fla 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1982) when it refused to grant the motion to appoint based on counsel's statement alone that he wanted such an expert. Contrary to those arguments, the trial court's actions were proper. Furthermore, the issue was unpreserved since Middleton waived it.

The trial court granted a number of requests to appoint experts for the defense in this case. It appointed an investigation to help in the preparation of the defense and also appointed three mental health experts, in addition to the one paid for by the Public Defender. (ROA 1:100,, 147, 164, 3:447, 8:28) When the motion to appoint the mitigation expert was presented, defense counsel stated that he felt he needed her to assist with the mental health experts, synthesize the investigator's work with the expert opinions, and because such an expert was recommended being used by the American Bar Association. (8:29-30) When the court commented that her work seemed duplicative of the other investigator's work and he needed more reason than counsel's feelings he needed her, counsel responded that another judge had appointed her. (Id. 31-32) Ultimately, the court denied the motion without prejudice and would grant it if counsel could present evidence of a "particularized need and necessity" to have this expert. (Id. 34) Counsel did not attempt to provide the court with that evidence by any means and never brought up the motion again before trial.

The test for overturning a trial court's ruling on appointing an expert is whether there has been an abuse of discretion. Martin v. State, 455 So.2d 370, 372 (Fla. 1984). The test to determine if the trial court abused its discretion is to determine if there was a necessity for the expert and if the defense suffered prejudice by not having one.

Ake and Caldwell, taken together, hold that a defendant must demonstrate something more than a mere possibility of assistance from a requested expert; due process does not require the government automatically to provide indigent defendants with expert assistance upon demand. Rather, a fair reading of these precedents is that a defendant must show the trial court that there exists a reasonable probability both that an expert would be of assistance to the defense and that denial of expert assistance would result in a fundamentally unfair trial. ... In each instance, the defendant's showing must also include a specific description of the expert or experts desired; without this basic information, the court would be unable to grant the defendant's motion, because the court would not know what type of expert was needed. In addition, the defendant should inform the court why the particular expert is necessary.

Moore v. Kemp, 809 F.2d 702, 712 (11th Cir. 1987)(footnotes omitted). In <u>San</u> Martin v. State, 705 So.2d 1337 (Fla. 1997) this Court held that a trial court's refusal to provide funds for the appointment of experts for an indigent defendant will not be disturbed unless there has been an abuse of discretion. "In evaluating whether there was an abuse of discretion, courts have applied a two-part test: (1)

whether the defendant made a particularized showing of need; and (2) whether the defendant was prejudiced by the court's denial of the motion requesting the expert assistance. *Dingle v. State*, 654 So.2d 164, 166 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995)." <u>Id.</u> 1347. The trial court here specifically requested that same showing rather than the statement that counsel felt he needed such an expert. "Counsel should be able to articulate a basis for requiring an expert beyond telling the judge that the subject is 'complicated'." <u>Cade v. State</u>, 658 So.2d 550, 555 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995).

In <u>Moore</u> the defense asked for a criminologist expert but failed to provide enough information in motion to allow the trial court the necessary basis to appoint one. The reviewing court held that given the record before the judge when he made the ruling, the defense motion "failed to create a reasonable probability that expert assistance was necessary to the defense and that without such assistance petitioner's trial would be rendered unfair". <u>Moore</u>, 809 F.2d at 718. Here, the trial court specifically did the same and actually invited the defense to return with more information. Middleton argues that was not possible since he could not have the mitigation expert testify if she was not appointed. He failed, however, to try to get the information necessary for the judge in by any other means such as a stipulation with the prosecution or having his fact investigator testify that he was not trained to provide the services of a mitigation expert.

As to the second test, Middleton has failed to show any prejudice by not

having the expert appointed. He points to no evidence or testimony that he was prevented from presenting as a result of not having the services of the mitigation expert. He had the opinions of four separate mental health experts and had access to them to explain their findings and how Middleton's life experiences influenced or were influenced by any mental health issues. Dr. Barnard testified about the impact Middleton's background had on him as an adult as well as the interaction of mental health, intelligence, and behavior. Parrish, the defense investigator, testified about Middleton's upbringing, schooling, and other aspects of his life. Middleton cannot meet the prejudice requirement to show that the trial court abused its discretion.

The defense in <u>San Martin</u> requested funds to travel to question a State expert which the court denied by saying that if the defense still believed it was necessary after it conducted a telephone interview it would re-consider the request. The defense never renewed the request after the deposition of the expert. This Court held that the issue was waived by not renewing the motion. <u>San Martin</u>, 705 So.2d at 1347. Similarly here, the trial court did the same and invited the defense to renew the motion with a showing of necessity which was never done. Middleton has waived this issue by so doing. This Court should affirm.

## POINT IV THE TRIAL COURT DID PERFORM AN INDIVIDUALIZED SENTENCING AS REQUIRED FOR A DEATH SENTENCE.

### (Restated)

Middleton next argues that the trial court did not perform its duty to conduct an individualized sentencing because it denigrated the entire field of psychiatry and psychology and arbitrarily rejected findings of the mental health experts. He also contends that the trial court should have considered Middleton's impaired capacity as a non-statutory mitigator once it rejected it as a statutory mitigator. In the last issue of this point he argues that the trial court misevaluated the mitigation evidence is assigning weight to it. There was competent substantial evidence to support the court's findings and the court did not abuse its discretion in making those findings.

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